
MINUTES OF THE
MARICOPA ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENTS

MAG REGIONAL COUNCIL EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
February 18, 2014

MAG Offices, Ironwood Room
302 N. 1st Avenue, Phoenix, Arizona

MEMBERS ATTENDING

Mayor Scott Smith, Mesa, Chair
Mayor Michael LeVault, Youngtown,Vice Chair
Mayor W.J. “Jim” Lane, Scottsdale, Treasurer

#Mayor Gail Barney, Queen Creek
#Mayor Marie Lopez Rogers, Avondale
Mayor Lana Mook, El Mirage
*Mayor Greg Stanton, Phoenix

* Not present
# Participated by video or telephone conference call

1. Call to Order

The Executive Committee meeting was called to order by Chair Smith at 12:06 p.m. 

2. Call to the Audience

Chair Smith stated that according to the MAG public comment process, members of the
audience who wish to speak are requested to fill out the public comment cards. He stated that
there is a three-minute time limit. Public comment is provided at the beginning of the meeting
for items that are not on the agenda that are within the jurisdiction of MAG, or non-action
agenda items that are on the agenda for discussion or information only. Chair Smith stated no
comment cards had been received. 

3. Approval of Executive Committee Consent Agenda

Chair Smith noted that prior to action on the consent agenda, members of the audience are
provided an opportunity to comment on consent items that are being presented for action.
Following the comment period, committee members may request that an item be removed from
the consent agenda.  

Chair Smith requested a motion to approve the consent agenda. Mayor Lane moved to approve
consent items #3A-#3G. Mayor LeVault seconded the motion and the motion carried
unanimously.

1



3A. Approval of the January 21, 2014 Executive Committee Meeting Minutes

The Regional Council Executive Committee, by consent, approved the January 21, 2014
Executive Committee meeting minutes.

3B. Amendment to the FY 2014 MAG Unified Planning Work Program and Annual Budget to
Accept Funding to Support Planning to Address Domestic Violence

The Regional Council Executive Committee, by consent, approved to accept the STOP Violence
Against Women grant for $160,428 and amend the FY 2014 MAG Unified Planning Work
Program and Annual Budget to include the $160,428, which includes $38,465 for a survey
services consultant.  The FY 2014 MAG United Planning Work Program and Annual Budget
(UPWP) was approved on May 22, 2013.  On December 23, 2013, a renewal STOP Violence
Against Women grant of $160,428 was awarded to the MAG Protocol Evaluation Project by the
Governor's Office Children, Youth and Families.  This $160,428 grant will support staffing for
the project, two in-person training events, and hiring a survey services consultant.  The contract
is seeking a survey services consult to develop, conduct, and analyze a survey with victims of
domestic violence about their experiences with the criminal justice system to inform the work
of the Protocol Evaluation Project.  Funding in the amount of $38,465 was allocated for a survey
services consultant within the STOP grant award.  This item is to accept this grant and approve
an amendment to the MAG FY 2014 Unified Planning Work Program and Annual Budget
(UPWP) to add project funding and contract with a survey services consultant.

3C. Amendment to the MAG FY2014 Unified Planning Work Program for Additional Printing of
the MAG Regional Bikeways Map and Purchase of Camera for Digital Media for the On-Line
Bikeways Map

The Regional Council Executive Committee, by consent, approved to amend the FY2014 MAG
Unified Planning Work Program to include printing costs and the purchase of noncapital
equipment to reprint 50,000 bike maps and purchase a GoProHERO3+ camera not to exceed a
total cost of $10,550.  In May 2012, the Regional Council approved the MAG FY 2013 Unified
Planning Work Program (UPWP) and Annual Budget, which included printing 100,000 copies
of the MAG Regional Bikeways Map. In August 2012, 100,000 maps were printed, of which
61,250 maps were directly delivered to MAG member agencies, and the remainder were
distributed by MAG per other requests we received. Due to the popularity of the bike map,
MAG has approximately 6,250 maps left as of January 2014. It is anticipated that the next
update to the printed map will occur in 2016. In order to meet the demand for printed bike maps
between now and 2016, MAG is requesting another print run of 50,000 maps at a cost not to
exceed $10,000.  Additionally, MAG is requesting to purchase a GoProHERO3+ camera in an
effort to enhance the MAG On-line Bikeways map and cut down on future printing costs. The
camera will allow for photos, videos, audio recording and wayfinding instructions to be
imbedded in the On-line Bikeways map. The cost for the camera equipment is approximately
$550.

2



3D. MAG Elderly & Persons with Disabilities Transportation Committee Vice Chair Appointment

The Regional Council Executive Committee, by consent, approved  the Vice Chair appointment
to the Ad Hoc Elderly & Persons with Disabilities Transportation Program Committee.  On July
22, 2009, the MAG Regional Council approved the MAG Committee Operating Policies and
Procedures.  On January 25, 2012, the MAG Regional Council approved updating the Policies
and Procedures to two-year terms for technical and other policy committees.  In January 2014,
the vice chair position of the Ad Hoc Elderly & Persons with Disabilities Transportation
Program Committee became vacant.  On February 5, 2014, MAG staff sent a notice to the
Management Committee, the Ad Hoc Elderly & Persons with Disabilities Transportation
Program Committee, and the Intergovernmental Representatives to solicit letters of interest for
the Ad Hoc Elderly & Persons with Disabilities Transportation Program Committee Vice Chair
position. 

3E. Amendment to the FY 2014 MAG Unified Planning Work Program and Annual Budget to
Accept Funding from the City of Phoenix for Human Services Transportation Coordination
Planning

The Regional Council Executive Committee, by consent, approved to accept funding from the
City of Phoenix and to amend the FY 2014 MAG Unified Planning Work Program for a total
of $225,722.17.  The FY 2014 MAG Unified Planning Work Program and Annual Budget
(UPWP) was approved on May 22, 2013.  In November 2013, the City of Phoenix notified
MAG of two grant awards. One award of $25,722.97 will support human services transportation
coordination planning from August 2013 to January 2014. The second grant award of
$199,999.20 will support human services transportation coordination planning and facilitation
of the regional Section 5310 application process from February 2014 to January 2015. 

3F. 2014 Travel Survey-Data Application On-Call Consultant Selection

The Regional Council Executive Committee, by consent, approved the selection of David Kriger
Consultants, Inc. for Travel Survey-Data Application On-Call project planning technical
assistance.  On May 22, 2013, the MAG Management Committee recommended approval of the
Travel Survey-Data Application On-Call project. An initial consultant contract is required for
this project for consultant support in providing expertise and assistance in detailing the scope,
specifying technical requirements, and conducting quality control measures for the Travel
Survey-Data Application on-call task orders and requests for proposals. Staff is recommending
that David Kriger Consultants, Inc. be selected as a sole source consultant to provide assistance
in preparing the Travel Survey-Data Collection task orders, requests for proposals  and
conducting quality control/quality assurance measures.  The proposed consultant is uniquely
qualified to provide best practice advice in the design, oversight, analysis, and quality control
for the surveys as he is recognized nationally and internationally as an expert in  travel surveys
and models development.  The initial contract for the first year of the agreement would be for
an amount not to exceed $85,000. The contract may be extended for an additional two years. 
Funding will be provided from the sales tax funds set aside for planning and study activities.

3



3G. Amendment to the FY 2014 MAG Unified Planning Work Program and Annual Budget to
Accept Funding from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development for Human
Services Continuum of Care Program Planning Funds 

The Regional Council Executive Committee, by consent, approved an amendment to the FY
2014 MAG Unified Planning Work Program and Annual Budget to accept the HUD funding
grant for a total of $180,000.  The FY 2014 MAG Unified Planning Work Program and Annual
Budget was approved on May 22, 2013.  In December, 2013, the U.S. Department of Housing
and Urban Development (HUD) awarded a grant to the Maricopa Association of Governments
for Continuum of Care Program planning funds in the amount of $180,000. The funds will
support the planning and operations of the Continuum of Care Program.  Funds will be used to
support the position of the Human Services Program Manager and to hire a full-time intern. 

4. Discussion of the Development of the FY 2015 MAG Unified Planning Work Program and
Annual Budget

Rebecca Kimbrough, MAG Fiscal Services Manager, stated that MAG's draft Unified Planning
Work Program and Annual Budget for FY 2015 was on the agenda for information and
discussion.  She added that the MAG budget is presented incrementally each year from January
through May and this month she was presenting the draft of the proposed dues and assessments,
the budget process time line, and the newly proposed projects for the FY 2015 budget. Ms.
Kimbrough stated that attachments reflecting the draft budget materials were included in agenda
materials and that the first attachment was the proposed dues and assessments, which were
presented at the last committee meeting.  She noted that dues and assessments have been
increased to100 percent based on FY 2009 and the average of the Consumer Price Index (CPI-U)
for calendar years 2010 through 2013 was also applied as an increase, which was 8.59 percent. 
She stated that at the last committee meeting there was also a discussion on getting a dues and
assessments comparison between MAG and other entities.  

Ms. Kimbrough indicated that the Arizona Municipal Water Users Association (AMWUA) 
dues charges are the largest source of revenue and they used them to cover their operating costs
of approximately $1 million.  The dues are allocated by population for the most part and there
is a minimum membership of $40,000 (Avondale).  She added that AMWUA also has associate
memberships (nonvoting) that pay a flat amount of $25,000 (less than 50,000 in population) or
$35,000 (if population is greater than 50,000).  Ms. Kimbrough stated that Valley Metro Rail
members pay a minimum dues amount of $50,000 each and Pima Association of Governments
(PAG) dues and assessments are based on the in-kind that is needed.  She added that they
provide a hard cash match on federal funds; MAG processes in-kind through the collection of
labor hours from our members.  Ms. Kimbrough stated that in order to meet our match on
federal funds, MAG usually needs to collect between $1.2 million and $1.5 million and she
provided a side by side comparison of PAG and MAG for similar population cities, towns, and
the counties.  Ms. Kimbrough indicated that at the last meeting members asked how much of
the MAG fund balance has gone to cover the programs normally covered by dues and
assessments.  She stated that from FY 2010 through FY 2013 MAG has used about $600,000

4



of fund balance to cover assessed programs, and this fiscal year will use approximately
$800,000.  She added that a Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) best practice
standard for maintaining general fund balance is to keep about two to three months, if there are
no extraordinary expenses.  For MAG this means about $5 million currently.  She noted that she
expects MAG to finish this Fiscal Year at about $3.8-3.9 million so with full assessments and
current expectations remaining the same, it will take MAG about the same length of time to
replenish the general fund to the best practice level.  Chair Smith asked if MAG has established
a policy on reserves that are being maintained.  Mr. Smith stated that it has not been established,
but this topic has come up before and the GFOA standard is a good one. Chair Smith stated we
either have a reserve or we have thirty five entities which MAG could count on as a reserve
fund.  He stated that the question is, do we maintain the current balance or do we embed into
annual dues to maintain reserves.  Chair Smith added that the best practice that MAG has
followed is now scheduled to dip below the GFOA Best Practice recommended amount.  Ms.
Kimbrough stated that was correct. Chair Smith stated that a policy decision will need to be
made on how to move forward and whether or not we maintain the reserves.  Mr. Smith stated
as far as a policy issue, staff could do more research and formally put this on the agenda for a
future meeting.  Chair Smith stated the policy is important because we may have to maintain a
certain reserve level and if so, we either have to cut expenses and programs or increase dues.  
     
Mayor Mook stated she would be very interested in finding out what staff recommends as the
least amount and percentage of dues that would be recommended to increase, if that is what
needs to be done, to stabilize the reserves.  Mr. Smith stated that the recommendation to approve
dues and assessments amounts that have been proposed will be an action item in May 2014,
when the budget is approved.  He added that last year staff recommended to increase dues to the
seventy five percent level and Regional Council recommended approving a 100 percent increase
for this year.  Mayor LeVault asked how long would it take to get our reserves back to where
they should be, which would begin the next fiscal year.  Ms. Kimbrough stated that it would take
approximately four to five years.  Mayor LeVault asked if MAG ever had to do an emergency
assessment in its history.  Mr. Smith stated not since he as been at MAG.  Mayor Lane asked if
the reserve is an ninety day operating expenses, as an informal policy.  Ms.  Kimbrough stated
that is correct.  Mayor Lane asked if this is unallocated reserves.  Ms. Kimbrough stated it is the
General Fund balance, unallocated reserves.

  
Mayor Lane asked if there are any other components within the budget that are funded from any
other source into this particular fund.  Ms. Kimbrough stated that MAG does not receive any
state funds other than sales tax.  Mayor Lane asked if this problem is being compounded by
other elements that are dropping off.  Ms. Kimbrough stated that the Federal Highway Funding
has been reduced this year, the estimates are running under what was received in the past and
the sales tax does not reduce, and has remained steady.  Mayor Lane stated that federal funding
has a tendency to drop off, with no sense of recovery, and in fact, it could continue to drop off. 
He added that this will cause the cities membership dues to become enhanced.  Mr. Smith stated
that MAG is building a sound budget and noted that MAG is not adding staff that they cannot
pay for in the future.  The flexibility lies in the amount of work the consultants do, and this year
MAG is using less.  Chair Smith stated he would be interested in knowing the fixed overhead

5



and at what point do those variable amounts get reviewed.  Mayor LeVault asked if the sales tax
revenues and federal funds are fully fungible.  Ms. Kimbrough stated that they have federal cost
principles that they follow and those funds must be used for the purpose for which they were
intended.  They are special revenue funds, tied to specific projects or functions. Mayor LeVault
stated that he would rather adopt a fund balance policy that addresses this sooner, rather than
later.  Mr. Smith indicated that the money is fungible if you are dealing with the Federal
Transportation Authority and Federal Highway Administration. He added that transit funds and 
planning funds can also be used for population, so there is flexibility. The sales tax fund is
generally for administration and the problem with a shortage in funding is in the human services
area, if they are not working on transportation.  Chair Smith added MAG should be commended
for receiving just $700,000 in dues and believes this is a bargain for everything the cities get.
Mayor Lopez Rogers asked if there is a policy on what specific programs should be funded.  She
added that many human services programs are critical.  Chair Smith stated that is a great
question and before a decision should be made on program funding, this body could weigh the
risks.  Mr. Smith stated that the programs that are most at risk for funding are the programs that
the cities request.

Ms. Kimbrough also discussed the budget time line and the budget webinar, which is open to
the public and members.  The event is scheduled for Thursday, February 20, 2014 at MAG, and
attendees can attend the webinar online or by telephone.  She also provided cost estimates and
descriptions for newly proposed projects for FY 2015 and added that new project requests for
the FY 2015 compared to FY 2014 are much lower due to the ongoing work from this year.  She
noted that the new project requests for FY 2015 mainly consist of projects in the area of
Transportation Safety.  Ms. Kimbrough provided attachments that included information and
details about the projects and noted that staff is looking for input throughout the period of
development of the draft budget through May and any comments or questions that they may
have regarding the proposed projects or the draft budget are welcome. Mayor Lane asked if there
were any savings left in any one of these categories could this be applied to the reserves.  Ms.
Kimbrough  stated they could not because MAG is on a cost reimbursement basis.  She added
that the grants and donations that also come in are for a specific purpose and are in a restricted
account.   Ms. Kimbrough was asked to provide recommended policy options for maintaining
the fund balance, provide the committee the minimum amounts for dues and assessments that
would keep MAG whole, and provide the programs that are paid out of dues and assessments
at a future meeting.

5. Annual Performance Review of the MAG Executive Director

Mayor Lane moved that the Executive Committee go into executive session regarding the annual
performance review of the MAG Executive Director.  Mayor Lopez Rogers seconded the motion
and the motion carried unanimously.  The meeting went into executive session at 12:58 p.m. 
The Executive Committee reconvened regular session at 1:46 p.m.

6



6. Possible Action on the Annual Performance Review of the MAG Executive Director

Chair Smith commended Mr. Smith and his team on this year’s accomplishments.  He added that
the situation at the elected level is now full of open and honest discussions on the future of the
Sun Corridor, and MAG played a big part of putting that together.  He added that we now have
Maricopa County leaders who know what the border is like, as it relates to State Route 189, and
leaders who understand when there are discussions about the Mariposa Crossing and San Luis
and how critical they are to Maricopa County.  He stated that this would not have happened
without Mr. Smith’s efforts.  Mayor LeVault commented that Mr. Smith does a terrific job and
he has assembled a top notch staff and added that he is proud to be part of this organization. 
Mayor LeVault stated that although the Executive Director has done a great job, they also have
to reflect on  the reality of where the economy is today.  

Mayor LeVault  made a motion to recommended that the MAG Executive Director’s salary be
increased based on tying the CPI adjustment that is adopted when determining salary levels for
the rest of the MAG staff and the benefits will remain the same as the year before.  Mayor Lane
seconded the motion and the motion carried unanimously. 

Chair Smith apologized that he did not call Mr. Smith into the executive session before
reconvening to the regular session so that Mr. Smith would have an opportunity to provide his
comments and feedback.  Chair Smith recommended this item be brought back to next month’s
agenda.

7. Request for Future Agenda Items

Chair Smith asked if there were any requests for future agendas items.  There were none.

8. Comments from the Committee

Chair Smith asked if there were any comments from the committee.  There were none.

Adjournment

There being no further business, the Executive Committee adjourned at 2:02 p.m.

_____________________________________
Chair

____________________________________
            Secretary

7


